IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00527

DIANE EVANS

APPELLANT

VS.

BONNIE HODGE

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

HONORABLE ALMA WALLS THE WALLS LAW FIRM Post Office Box 236 Clarksdale, MS 38614 Tel: (662) 624-4414

Fax: (662) 624-4151

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00527

DIANE EVANS	APPELLANT
VS.	
BONNIE HODGE	APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF BONNIE HODGE?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This is a civil action seeking monetary damages for the injuries Diane Evans (*Evans*) received on January 2, 2001, when she slipped and fell on the property owned by Bonnie Hodge (*Hodge*). (CP 4-5) Evans filed her complaint against Hodge on or about July 21, 2001, alleging that Hodge's negligent maintenance of the doormat located outside the entranceway into her home caused Evans to fall and injure herself. (CP 4-5) On or about August 3, 2001, Hodge answered the complaint and denied the allegations of negligence. (CP 6-8)

Hodge was served with a deposition subpoena indicating her deposition was scheduled for May 23, 2002, and she failed to appear for the deposition. (CP 28-33) Evans filed a motion to find Hodge in contempt for her failure to appear for the deposition and she responded to the motion by submitting a letter from her treating psychiatrist, Dr. Krishan K. Gupta, which stated that she was mentally incapacitated and unable to appear for deposition. <u>Id.</u> The trial court entered an order on or about October 19, 2002, denying the motion for contempt and holding the deposition of Hodge in abeyance until she was deemed by her treating physician to be medically fit to be deposed. (CP 34) Hodge subsequently tendered to Evans a copy of a statement under oath she gave to Mr. Jim Smith, claims investigator for Nationwide Insurance Company.

On or about September 9, 2005, Hodge filed a motion for summary judgment alleging that Evans was a licensee at the time of her injury and there existed no evidence that Hodge willfully or wantonly injured Evans. (CP 38-69). Evans responded by alleging that she was an invitee, not a licensee, at the time of her injury and there existed sufficient evidence to support her contention that Hodge failed to maintain her property in a reasonably safe manner. (CP 72-96) In addition, Evans

argued that she was not able to fully and adequately respond to the summary judgment motion since she was barred by court order from deposing Hodge due to her medical condition. Evans was deposed by counsel for Hodge on or about May 23, 2002 and Hodge was never deposed. (CP 43) (CP 72-96)

On or about March 6, 2006, the trial court, after reviewing the pleadings and hearing oral arguments from both parties, found there existed no genuine issues of material fact and granted the motion for summary judgment in favor of Hodges. (CP 97-98) Feeling aggrieved, Evans filed her notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court: she appealed the March 6, 2006, order of the trial court granting summary judgment to Bonnie Hodge. (CP 99-100) The only issue raised on appeal is whether the trial court committed reversible error when it granted summary judgment in favor of Bonnie Hodge.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about January 2, 2001, Diane Evans slipped and fell on a doormat located at the entranceway to Bonnie Hodge's home located at 1206 Hodge Road in Pocahontas, Mississippi. (CP 53)(CP 4-5) The mat was covered with an accumulation of snow and ice. <u>Id.</u> It snowed days prior to the fall. Evans went to Hodge's house for the sole purpose of delivering mail to Hodge's twin sister, Betty Russell (*Russell*), who was a resident of Hodge's household. (CP 50) (RE 5)

Prior to her injury, Evans resided at 577 Dryden Avenue in Jackson, Mississippi and Betty Russell was her next door neighbor. (CP 48) She resided at 576 Dryden Avenue. <u>Id.</u> In October 2000, Russell's house burned and she moved in with Hodge. (CP 49) Hodge testified under oath that after the fire, she moved Russell into her home "because she [Russell] doesn't drive, I bought her to my house so I could help see about her." (RE 5).

After moving in with her sister, Russell asked Evans to pick up her mail. (CP 49) Evans would pick up Russell's mail daily and Russell would come by Evans' home and pick up her mail on a weekly basis. <u>Id.</u> Russell has a pseudotumor that caused her to lose vision in her eyes and she is unable to drive so either Hodge or her son, Sean, would take Russell to pick up her mail. (RE 5)(CP 49)

Russell was waiting for a check from her insurance carrier for her fire loss and on or about January 2, 2001, Russell received a letter from her insurance carrier. (CP 50) Evans called Russell and informed her about the letter and Russell asked Evans to deliver the letter to her in Pocahontas. Id.; (RE 5) Russell told her sister, Hodge, that Evans was coming over to the house to deliver her mail. (RE 5) It was a dull, wintry day and snow was on the ground. (CP 50) Evans arrived at Hodge's home at approximately 7:30 p.m. as it was getting dark. (CP 51). There was not much lightning outside the house and there was an accumulation of snow and ice on the sidewalk leading to the entranceway of the house. Id. Evans tipped to the door and knocked. Id. Hodge opened the door and invited her inside. Id. They exchanged pleasantries and Evans proceeded to the back of the house to deliver the mail to Russell. Id. Hodge had not left the house all day. (RE 5).

Evans visited with Russell for about an hour and proceeded to exit the Hodge residence. (CP 50) As Evans headed toward the exit, Hodge thanked Evans for bringing the mail and told her she really appreciated her delivering the mail. <u>Id.</u> Specifically, Evans testified in her deposition that Hodge "thanked me for bringing the mail and everything, you know, appreciate it, it was helping her out a lot, you know, by me doing that for her, because she say – always say she wasn't the best driver, you know. She don't like to get out that much for driving." (CP 50) Hodge admitted in her statement under oath that she hates driving in inclement weather. (RE 5, p. 14) A reasonable inference can be drawn that Hodge would have taken Russell to Jackson to pick up the mail if Evans had not delivered the mail and she appreciated Evans' kind gesture of delivering the mail. <u>Id.</u>

Hodge testified under oath that immediately before Evans exited her home she and Evans talked about "the weather in Pocohontas. It wasn't as bad as in Jackson I don't think, she was telling me, as it was out there in the country. You know, we have trees around. I guess that helps the snow to stay up there more. I don't know. We talked about the weather some I think. We talked about what I was watching on TV." (RE 5) A reasonable inference can be drawn based on the statement under oath that Hodge has a different recollection of the conversation she and Evans had prior to the fall. On the contrary, Hodge was never questioned specifically as to whether she was grateful that Evans delivered the mail to Russell. Evans was unable to depose Hodge and as such, she had no means to question Hodge about the conversation and determine whether she recalled being grateful that Evans delivered the mail.

Hodge instructed Evans to leave out of the same door she used to enter the house. (CP 53) She was busy watching television and told Evans to pull the door closed and she would get up later to lock it. <u>Id.</u>; (RE 5) Hodge never gave Evans the option to exit the house through any other door: there are two entrances on the front of the house.

As Evans exited the house and pulled the door closed, she slipped and fell. <u>Id.</u> She slipped on the doormat located near the entrance. (CP 58) There was so much snow and ice on the mat Evans did not realize the mat was even there; it was totally covered with snow and ice. <u>Id.</u> The mat gave way from its position near the door causing Evans to fall and ultimately landed near the edge of the walkway leading to the door. (CP 59) Hodge heard the commotion and ran to the door. (CP 53) She helped Evans get up. <u>Id.</u> Evans told Hodge she slipped on the mat and Hodge commented that the "mat is real icy". (RE 5) Hodge apologized to Evans and confessed that she felt she was responsible for Evans' fall. (CP 53) She knew the trees around her property caused snow and ice "to stay up there [near her entranceway] more". (RE 5). She admitted that "there was something I could have done" to prevent Evan's fall but she did nothing. (RE 5).

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only appellate issue before this Court is whether the trial court committed reversible error when it held that Bonnie Hodge did not breach the duties owed to Diane Evans and granted summary judgment in favor of Bonnie Hodge. In other words, this Court must decide whether there are any material issues in dispute regarding the status of Diane Evans at the time of her injury and whether Hodge breached the duties owed to Evans.

In the case *sub judice*, there exists material issues of fact as to whether Evans was an invitee at the time of her injury since Hodge received a benefit from Evans entering the Hodge premises: Evans testified in her deposition that Hodge thanked her for bringing the mail, "it was helping her out a lot" because otherwise she would have had to drive her sister, Russell, from their home in Pocohontas to Jackson to retrieve the mail. An *invitee* is a person who enters the premises of another for the benefit of the landowner and the record evidence is clear that Hodge received a benefit from Evans delivering the mail.

As an invitee, Hodge owed Evans a duty to keep the premises reasonably safe, protect her from injuries which are reasonably foreseeable and to provide a reasonably safe means of ingress and egress onto the premises. There exists material issues of fact as to whether Hodge breached her duties since Hodge knew Evans was coming to her house, there was an accumulation of ice and snow on her doormat, the doormat was slippy and Evans would have to walk on the snow and ice covered doormat to get into the house.

Therefore, it is clear that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment since there exists material issues of fact as to the status of Evans at the time of her injury and whether Hodge breached the duties owed to Evans. As such, this Court should reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment.

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate standard for reviewing the grant or denial or summary judgement is the same standard as that of the trial court under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Heigle v. Heigle, 771 So.2d 341, 345 (Miss. 2000). The Court employs a *de novo* standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. Miss. Dept. of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, Inc., 740 So.2d 925, 929 (Miss. 1999); Williamson v. Keith, 786 So.2d 390, 393 (Miss. 2001).

Rule 56 states, in relevant part, that summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law." Miss. R. Civ.P. 56(c). The moving party has the burden of persuading this Court that no genuine issue of material fact exists and the non-movant should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt. Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990). All evidentiary matters should be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So.2d 977, 979 (Miss. 2001); Pearl River County Board v. South East Collection, 459 So.2d 783, 785 (Miss.1984); Brown v. Credit Center, Inc., 444 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss.1983).

Where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and the other party swears just the opposite there exist issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment.

Williams v. Tollier, 759 So.29 1195, 1198 (Miss. 1999); Dennis v. Searle, 457 So.2d 941 (Miss. 1984).

If there is the slightest doubt over whether a factual issue exists, the court should resolve it in favor of the non-moving party. Cothern v. Vickers, Inc., 759 So.2d 1241, 1245 (Miss. 2000). While reviewing the evidence, this Court must draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, and avoid credibility determinations and weighing of the evidence. Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods. Inc., 530 U.S. 133 (2000)¹. In doing so, the Court must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party that the trier of fact is not required to believe. Id. Summary judgment is improper where the Court merely believes it unlikely that the non-moving party will prevail at trial. National Screen Serv. Corp. v. Poster Exchange, Inc., 305 F.2d 647, 651 (5th Cir.1962). Therefore, this Court should only affirm the trial court's grant of motion for summary judgment if the record clearly demonstrates that there exists no genuine issues of material fact.

B. THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO WHETHER DIANE EVANS WAS AN INVITEE AT THE TIME OF HER INJURY.

An *invitee* is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage. Adams v. Fred's Dollar Store of Batesville, 497 So.2d 1097, 1100 (Miss. 1986). A visitor may be an *invitee* where he comes to the home of the occupant, not for business purposes, but, for the occupant's benefit. Pinnell v. Bates, 838 So.2d 198 (Miss. 2002). Although an invitation does not itself establish an invitee status, it is essential to it. Clark v. Moore Memorial United Methodist Church, 538 So.2d 760, 764 (Miss. 1989). An invitation differs from mere permission: an invitation is conduct which justifies others believing that the landowner or occupant desires them to enter the land and permission is conduct justifying others in believing that the landowner is willing to allow them to enter if they desire to do so. Id.

¹The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly noted that the United States Supreme Court's analysis of Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 is persuasive evidence of its interpretation of Miss. R. Civ. P. 56. <u>Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 515 So.2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987).

A *licensee* is one who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure or benefit pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner. Adams, 497 So.2d at 1100. A *trespasser* is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation or other right.

Id. The differences among the categories focus on the landowner and whether that person is receiving an advantage, just permitting the presence of the entrant, or actually opposing the entry. Daulton v. Miller, 815 So.2d 1237, 1239 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

The status of a plaintiff is a *jury question* where there exists a factual dispute as to the proper classification but where the facts are not in dispute, classification becomes a question of law. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Lucas v. Mississippi Housing Authority</u>, 441 So.2d 101, 102-103 (Miss. 1983).

Under Mississippi law, an owner and the person in charge of a premises owe to an invitee a duty to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition or to warn of dangerous conditions, not readily apparent, which the owner knows of or should know of in the exercise of reasonable care. Waller v. Dixieland Food Stores, Inc., 492 So.2d 283, 285 (Miss. 1986). A landowner owes a licensee the duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring the licensee. Hall v. Cagle, 773 So.2d 928, 929 (Miss. 2000). Landowners owe trespassers the duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring them. Titus v. Williams, 844 So.2d 459, 467 (Miss. 2003).

In <u>Pinnell v. Bates</u>, 838 So.2d 198 (Miss. 2002), plaintiff sued a homeowner for the injuries she received when she fell from the concrete steps outside the house. The homeowner invited plaintiff to her new house for a visit and while she was there she helped the homeowner clean and unpack boxes. <u>Id.</u> The Mississippi Supreme Court ruled that there existed a jury question as to the issue of whether the plaintiff was an invitee or a licensee since the homeowner invited plaintiff to her house and received benefit from the cleaning and unpacking done by plaintiff. <u>Id.</u> at 202.

In <u>Hall v. Cagle</u>, 773 So.2d 928 (Miss. 2000), plaintiff sued a homeowner for the injuries she received when she fell from the steps outside the mobile house. Plaintiff was invited to the house by homeowner for the purpose of unloading boxes and arranging furniture. <u>Id.</u> The Mississippi Supreme Court ruled there existed a genuine issue of material fact as to whether plaintiff was an invitee since she was invited to the home and the homeowner received benefit from her unloading boxes and arranging furniture. <u>Id.</u> at 930.

In <u>Lucas v. Mississippi Housing Authority</u>, 441 So. 2d 101, 102-103 (Miss. 1983), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that a child who drowned in the swimming pool of an apartment complex while visiting his mother's friends who resided in the complex was an invitee and owner owed a duty of reasonable care. The Court applying the definition of an invitee reasoned that the child was an invitee because the swimming pool was constructed and maintained for the benefit of the tenants and that part of the rent or consideration for occupying the apartments was for the inducement, pleasure and benefit of using the swimming pool. <u>Id.</u> at 103. The Court further recognized that it would be unconscionable to establish a principle of law that a landowner owned a duty to a tenant using the pool to use reasonable care not to injure him and would only owe an invited guest swimming in the same pool the duty not to willfully or wantonly injure him. <u>Id.</u>

The Mississippi Supreme Court in Corley v. Evans held as a matter of law that the plaintiff was an invitee where there existed a mutual advantage between the landowner and invitee: defendant received a \$7 admission fee from the plaintiff and the plaintiff received the benefit of attending the crawfish boil. 835 So.2d 30 (Miss. 2003). Plaintiff was accidently shot by a friend while attending a crawfish boil sponsored by the defendant, Stacy Evans. Plaintiff's friend slipped and the .22 caliber pistol in his pocket accidently discharged severely injuring the plaintiff. The Court, after

determining that plaintiff was an invitee, reasoned that plaintiff's injury was remote and unforeseeable and therefore, defendant was not liable.

In <u>Clark v. Moore Memorial United Methodist Church</u>, 538 So.2d 760 (Miss. 1989), plaintiff slipped and fell while attending a church service at Moore Memorial United Methodist Church and the trial court reasoned that plaintiff was a licensee, the church did not wilfully and wantonly injure her and granted summary judgment for the church. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the trial court and held as a *matter of law* that plaintiff was an invitee at the time of her fall. It reasoned that the church derived benefits from the monetary contributions and offerings of its patrons and as such, classified its patrons as invitees.

In <u>Daulton v. Miller</u>, 815 So.2d 1237 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), the Court of Appeals determined that plaintiff was a licensee since there existed no mutual advantage between the landowner and plaintiff where the plaintiff was injured while viewing an outdoor Christmas display on the landowner's property. The Court reasoned that although the plaintiff enjoyed the benefit of viewing the display, the landowner benefitted nothing since she did not charge an admission fee to view the display and received no other tangible form of consideration.

Reading and interpreting <u>Pinnell</u> and <u>Hall</u> together, it becomes clear there exists a jury question as to the status of a visitor where a homeowner or occupant of a leased premises derived a noneconomic benefit from the visitor's presence. <u>Corley</u> and <u>Clark</u>, on the other hand, indicate that where a homeowner or occupant derive an economic benefit from the visitor's presence, the visitor should be classified as an invitee as a matter of law.

1. <u>Pinnell</u> and <u>Hall</u> make it clear that there exists a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Evans was an invitee at the time of her injury.

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