IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DIANE EVANS

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

<u>,</u> 5

No. 2007-CA-00527

BONNIE HODGE

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF BONNIE HODGE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

> William M. Vines, MSB PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A. 10 Canebrake Blvd., Ste. 200 Post Office Box 1163 Jackson, Mississippi 39215 (601) 420-0333 (telephone) (601) 420-0033 (facsimile)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE BONNIE HODGE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DIANE EVANS

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

No. 2007-CA-00527

VS.

BONNIE HODGE

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Judge Yerger correctly found that Evans was a licensee at the time of the accident and correctly entered summary judgment in favor of Hodge. The ruling of the lower court should be affirmed.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held as follows:

The analysis of a premises liability case proceeds according to three steps. First, it is necessary to determine whether the injured person is an invitee, licensee, or trespasser. Next, the duty owed to the injured person must be determined. The final step is the determination of whether the landowner breached that duty.

Massey v. Tingle, 867 So.2d 235, 239 (Miss. 2004); quoting Titus v. Williams, 844 So.2d 459,

467 (Miss. 2003).

If this three part test is applied to the case at bar, it is plainly evident that Evans cannot

establish a prima facie case against Hodge. In the first place, Evans was merely a licensee of

Hodge at the time of the accident, and not an invitee. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held:

An *invitee* is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage... A *licensee* is one who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure, or benefit pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner whereas a *trespasser* is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation, or other right.

Corley v. Evans, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003).

"In order to create invitee status, there must be a <u>mutually advantageous</u> interaction between the landowner and invitee." *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So.2d 235, 239 (Miss.2004); citing *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So.2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003). Hodge derived no benefit whatever from Evans' presence on her property. Evans went to Hodge's house for the sole purpose of delivering mail to Hodge's sister, Betty Russell. While Evans may have been an invitee of <u>Russell</u>, she was a mere licensee of <u>Hodge</u> since Hodge did not invite Evans onto the property and Hodge derived no benefit from her presence. See *Howze v. Garner*, 928 So. 2d 900 (Miss. 2005); *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So.2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003).

1

!

i.

1

ξ.,

Evans was, at most, a social guest of Hodge on the night of the accident. The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that social guests are <u>licensees</u>, not invitees. In *Raney v. Jennings*, 158 So.2d 715, 717 (Miss. 1963), the Court stated, "[t]he relation between host and guest is not that of invitor and invitee, but that of licensor and licensee." While Evans may have been more than a mere social guest of Betty Russell since she was bringing her the mail, it cannot be maintained that Evans was more than a mere social guest of Hodge.

In the present case, it is undisputed that on the evening in question, Evans chose to do her friend, Russell, a favor by bringing her her mail from Jackson. It is undisputed that Evans went to the Hodge home at the invitation of Russell, not Hodge. It is also undisputed that any "advantage" by Evans' visit was gained by Russell, not Hodge, insofar as Evans was delivering mail to Russell, not Hodge. Hodge gained no benefit whatsoever from Evans' visit. Insofar as Hodge derived no benefit from Evans' presence on her property, and insofar as the Mississippi Supreme Court has always held that social guests such as Evans are licensees, not invitees, Hodge submits that Evans was a licensee of Hodge on the night of the incident. There are no facts supporting the theory that Evans was an invitee on the night of the incident.

Under Mississippi law, "landowners owe a duty to licensees to avoid wanton and willful injury to the licensee." *Cook v. Stringer*, 764 So.2d 484, (Miss. App. 2000); citing *Skelton by Roden v. Twin County Rural Elec. Assoc.*, 611 So.2d 931, 936 (Miss. 1992). A homeowner "must have a beneficial interest in a visit in order to impose upon him the duty of using reasonable care in having the premises in a safe condition for the visitor..." *Wright v. Caffey*, 123

So.2d 841, 843 (Miss. 1960). "The guest is permitted to recover only where his injury is the result of active and affirmative negligence of the host." *Cook v. Stringer*, 764 So.2d at 484; citing *Raney v. Jennings*, 158 So.2d 715, 717 (1963).

In the instant case, Judge Yerger was correct in holding that the only legal duty Hodge owed to Evans was the duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring Evans. Judge Yerger was also correct in finding that there is absolutely no evidence – *and the complaint does not even allege* – that Hodge breached the duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring Evans. (R. 4). The facts are undisputed that Evans merely slipped and fell outside Hodge's house. The evidence merely shows that after Hodge let Evans into her house, she (Hodge) sat on the couch watching TV until Evans left. This certainly does not qualify as willful or wanton injury.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that on a motion for summary judgment, "the non-moving party must produce <u>specific facts</u> showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact for trial. The non-moving party's claim must be supported by more than a mere scintilla of culpable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Cong Vo Van v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc.*, 767 So.2d 1014, 1018 (Miss. 2000). Furthermore, "[w]hen a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided for in Rule 56, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, his response must set forth <u>specific facts</u> showing that there is a genuine issue of material facts for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, should be entered against him." *Miller v. Meeks*, 762 So.2d 302, 305 (Miss. 2000) (emphasis added).

Evans was unable to provide the lower court with any facts to defeat summary judgment. Evans was a licensee. The only duty owed to her by Hodge was to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring her. Evans' alleged injury in no way a resulted from willful or wanton conduct

1.

on the part of Hodge. This was a simple slip and fall with no allegation or evidence of willful or wanton injury. Judge Yerger correctly granted summary judgment to Hodge and this court should affirm.

111

1

. . .

. . . .

!

1

!

:

1 | | |

1

÷

ĺ

Ň

l

ARGUMENT

A. <u>EVANS WAS A LICENSEE OF HODGE, NOT AN INVITEE, AT THE</u> <u>TIME OF THE ACCIDENT</u>

The first issue before the Court involves a determination of Evans' legal status at the time

of the incident, i.e., whether she was an invitee, a licensee or a trespasser. Massey v. Tingle, 867

So.2d 235, 239 (Miss. 2004). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held:

An *invitee* is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage... A *licensee* is one who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure, or benefit pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner whereas a *trespasser* is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation, or other right.

Corley v. Evans, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003).

In Daulton v. Miller, 815 So.2d 1237, 1239 (Miss. App. 2001), the Court of Appeals held

that "the differences among the categories focus on the <u>owner</u> and whether <u>that person</u> is

receiving an advantage, or just permits the presence of the entrant, or actually opposes the entry."

Hodge submits that Judge Yerger's determination that Evans was a licensee at the time of the accident is the only correct determination that can be made under the undisputed facts of this case, and that his ruling should be affirmed.

> 1. <u>Evans was a licensee of Hodge because she was invited to the Hodge</u> home by a third party, Betty Russell, and not Hodge

In *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003), the Mississippi Supreme Court defined "invitee" as one who goes upon the premises of another "in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage." The Court implicitly recognized the principal that if an owner or occupant of premises invites someone onto their property and gains some type of tangible benefit or advantage from that person's presence, then

the invited person has the right to find the premises reasonably safe when he or she arrives. However, if the invited person answers an invitation extended by a *third person* (i.e., someone other than the property owner or occupant against whom recovery is sought) and if the owner is merely informed of the invitation after the invitation is made and accepted, then the invited person does not fall within the definition of "invitee." In that situation, the invited person becomes a "licensee" because he or she is on the premises "pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner." *Corley*, 835 So. 2d at 37.

ŧ

!

ĸ.

÷

ί,

In *Corley*, the plaintiff was accidentally shot at a crawfish boil sponsored by Stacy Evans. The shooting took place on a tract of land owned partly by Stacy and partly by her father, James Evans. The plaintiff filed suit against both Stacy and James, alleging he was an invitee of both of them at the time of the shooting. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that as to <u>Stacy</u>, the plaintiff was an invitee because Stacy was the one who invited the plaintiff onto the premises and she was the one who received a \$7 admission from plaintiff. *Corley*, 835 So. 2d at 37. The Court held, however, that as to <u>James</u>, the plaintiff was merely a licensee. *Id.* at 39. The Court stated, "[a]s to James, [the plaintiff] was a licensee ... James derived no benefit from the crawfish boil and was not involved in its promotion or staging." *Id.*

Similarly, in *Howze v. Garner*, 928 So. 2d 900 (Miss. 2005), a homeowner, Garner, allowed his daughter to host a swimming party for children at his house. The swimmers were charged a fee to attend the party. The plaintiffs' minor son attended the party, paid an admission fee, but tragically drowned in the pool. The plaintiffs sued the homeowner, Garner, alleging their minor son was an invitee at the time of the accident. The circuit court granted summary judgment to the homeowner, and the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed. The Court held that as to the homeowner, the minor was at most a licensee at the time of the accident. The Court

stated, "Garner did not sponsor the party, did not attend, and did not receive any money from the party. [The minor] entered Garner's premises as a licensee." *Howze*, 928 So. 2d at 903.

In the present case, it is undisputed that Evans was not invited onto the Hodge premises by Hodge. (R. 50). Evans was invited onto the premises by Russell, a third party, who was staying temporarily at Hodge's house following the fire at Russell's house. (R. 50). Evans admits that "Russell told her sister, Hodge, that Evans was coming over to the house to deliver her mail." Evans' Brief, p. 3. In the absence of any proof that Hodge, the homeowner against whom recovery is sought, participated in extending the invitation to Evans, Evans cannot be considered in invitee. *Howze v. Garner*, 928 So. 2d 900 (Miss. 2005); *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003).

The cases Evans cites in support of her argument that Evans qualifies as an invitee are easily distinguishable on this point. In *Pinnell v. Bates*, 838 So. 2d 198 (Miss. 2002) and *Hall v. Cagle*, 773 So. 2d 928 (Miss. 2000), it was undisputed that the plaintiffs were invited onto the premises by the homeowner against whom recovery was sought, not a third party. The other cases cited by Evans either involve <u>corporate defendants</u> (as opposed to residential homeowners) or landowners who received <u>admission</u> from the plaintiff. See *Adams v. Fred's Dollar Store of Batesville*, 497 So. 2d 1097 (Miss. 1986) (corporate defendant); *Waller v. Dixieland Food Stores, Inc.*, 492 So. 2d 283 (Miss. 1986) (corporate defendant); *Lucas v. Miss. Housing Authority*, 441 So. 2d 101 (Miss. 1983) (corporate defendant); *Clark v. Moore United Methodist Church*, 538 So. 2d 760 (Miss. 1989) (paying tithes to church rendered plaintiff an invitee); *Goodwin v. Derryberry Co.*, 553 So. 2d 40 (Miss. 1986) (corporate defendant); *Cowan v. Lakeview Village Condominium Assoc.*, 2005 WL 233555 (Mich. App. 2005) (corporate defendant); *Mayfield v.*

÷

÷

ί.

The Hairbender, 903 So. 2d 733 (Miss. 2005) (corporate defendant); Breland v. Gulfside Casino Partnership, 736 So. 2d 446 (Miss. App. 1999) (corporate defendant); Fulton v. Robinson Industries, 664 So. 2d 170 (Miss. 1995) (corporate defendant).

These cases cited by Evans simply do not apply to the present case. Bonnie Hodge is not a corporate enterprise like Fred's Dollar Store earning profits off customers entering the premises. Neither did she charge Evans admission to enter her premises. Hodge is a residential homeowner who allowed one of her sister's friends, Evans, to come over and deliver her sister a check. Residential homeowners in Mississippi should not be shouldered with the unreasonable burden of ensuring that no one slips and falls on their "welcome mats" in a snowstorm. The Mississippi Supreme Court has never placed such a burden on homeowners. <u>Businesses</u> have the obligation to keep their premises reasonably safe for customers, but our courts have never imposed these same duties upon <u>residential homeowners</u>. Instead, our courts have always recognized the distinctions between the duties imposed on residential homeowners and businesses. In *Pinnell v. Bates*, 838 So.2d 198 (Miss. 2003), the Court observed that abolishing the legal distinctions between private residential homes and businesses would "curtail the unbridled use of private property." *Pinnell*, 838 So.2d at 199. The Court stated:

> Worse still, a jury would have the power to decide whether a homeowner has arranged the living room furniture or maintained his yard in a reasonable manner... There is no compelling reason to change our timehonored law on premises liability now. The distinctions between licensee and invite have been developed over many years and are grounded in reality.

Id.

Evans is asking this Court to do precisely what the Court has always declined to do, namely, ignore the fundamental differences between the duties imposed on residential homeowners and businesses. This Court has stated that residential homeowners should not have

to worry about being sued for not "arranging the furniture" or "maintaining the yard" in a reasonable manner. *Pinnell*, 838 So.2d at 199. Against this, however, Evans states in the very first sentence of her brief that this case is about Hodge's "negligent maintenance of the doormat." Evans' Brief, p. 1. This is precisely the kind of claim that the Mississippi Supreme Court has historically held cannot be maintained in Mississippi. This is particularly so when it is undisputed that the homeowner being sued, Hodge, did not even invite the plaintiff onto her property in the first place. Judge Yerger correctly recognized that Evans' claim was fatally flawed and that Hodge was entitled to summary judgment.

2. <u>Evans was a licensee of Hodge because Hodge derived no advantage from</u> <u>her presence</u>

To qualify as an "invitee" under Mississippi law, the plaintiff must not only prove that the owner extended an invitation to enter the premises, the plaintiff must go further and prove that the owner derived some type of advantage or benefit from the plaintiff's presence. *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated, "[i]n order to create invitee status, there must be a <u>mutually advantageous</u> interaction between the landowner and invitee." *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So.2d 235, 239 (Miss.2004). In the absence of proof of a "mutual advantage" between the plaintiff and the premises owner, the plaintiff does not qualify as an invitee. *Id*.

In the *Corley* and *Howze* cases discussed above, the Mississippi Supreme Court explained that a plaintiff should be classified as an invitee as to a defendant who extends the invitation and receives the benefit from the plaintiff's presence, but the plaintiff should be classified as a licensee as to a defendant who did not extend any invitation and received no benefit from the plaintiff's presence. *Howze*, 928 So. 2d at 903; *Corley*, 835 So. 2d at 39. In the present case, Evans has acknowledged that the sole purpose of her visit to Hodge's house was to deliver mail

ι.

Ι.

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